Kore Potash plc

Performance Rights Plan

This performance rights plan (**New Plan**) is an amended and re-stated version of the Kore Potash Limited performance rights plan approved by the shareholders of Kore Potash Limited on 11 March 2015 (**Old Plan**). The New Plan governs the vesting of the performance rights issued by Kore Potash plc under the convertible securities exchange deeds (**Cancellation Deeds**) entered into between Kore Potash Limited, Kore Potash plc and performance right holders in Kore Potash Limited in connection with Kore Potash Limited's proposed scheme of arrangement announced to the ASX on 31 August 2017. The Old Plan has been amended to produce the New Plan to the extent set out in the Cancellation Deeds.

Contents

1	Purpose	1
2	Definitions and interpretation	1
	2.1 Definitions2.2 Interpretation	1 4
3	Offer to participate	5
	3.1 Offers3.2 Application Form3.3 Participants	5 5 6
4	Grant of Performance Rights	6
	 4.1 Grant 4.2 Not transferable 4.3 Security Interest 4.4 New issues 4.5 Dividend and Voting Rights 	6 6 6 7
5	Vesting of Performance Rights	7
	 5.1 Performance Conditions 5.2 Determination of number of Vested Performance Rights 5.3 Automatic Issue of Shares for Vested Performance Rights 5.4 Performance Rights and Trading of Shares 	7 7 7 8
6	Time of lapse of Performance Rights	8
7	Cessation of employment or office	8
	7.1 Unvested Performance Rights7.2 Secretary's Certificate7.3 Death of a Participant	8 9 9
8	Breach, fraud or dishonesty	9
9	Change of control	9
10	9.1 Vesting upon change of controlAdministration of the Plan	9 10
11	Capital events	11
	11.1 Variation of Capital11.2 Adjustments11.3 Notice of Variation	11 11 11
12	Rights of Participants	11
13	Amendment, termination and suspension	12
14	General	12
	14.1 Law, Listing Rules and the Constitution 14.2 Issue limitations	12 12

14.3	Costs and Expenses	13
14.4	Withholding	13
14.5	Data protection	13
14.6	Error in Allocation	14
14.7	Dispute	14
14.8	Notices	14
14.9	Governing Law	14

1 Purpose

The Plan is a long term incentive aimed at creating a stronger link between employee performance and reward and increasing shareholder value by enabling Eligible Persons to have a greater involvement with, and share in the future growth and profitability of, the Company.

2 Definitions and interpretation

2.1 Definitions

In these Rules the following terms have the following meanings:

Application Form An application form by which an Eligible Person or a

Nominee can accept an Offer in such form as the Board

may approve from time to time.

ASIC Australian Securities and Investments Commission.

ASX ASX Limited ACN 008 624 691 and, where the context

permits, the Australian Securities Exchange operated by

ASX Limited.

Blackout Period A close period, as defined in the Securities Trading

Policy.

Board The board of directors of the Company from time to time.

Change of Control Event

A change in ownership of the Company as follows:

(a) when any one person or more than one person acting as a group acquires ownership of Shares in the Company that constitutes more than 50% of the total fair market value or total voting power of

the Shares of the Company; or

(b) a merger of the Company with another; or

(c) the disposal of all or the greater part of the

Company's assets takes place.

CHESS The Clearing House Electronic Subregister operated by

ASX.

Company Kore Potash plc whose registered office is at 25

Moorgate, London, United Kingdom, EC2R 6AY with

registered number 10933682.

Constitution The articles of association of the Company.

Corporations Act The Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

Eligible Person A person who is a full time or part-time employee or an

executive or non-executive director of the Company or a

Related Body Corporate of the Company.

Expiry Date The day ending at 5.00 pm Perth time on the date

> 4 years after the date of grant of the Performance Right, or such other date as determined by the Board in its

absolute discretion and specified in the Offer.

Group The Company and its Subsidiaries (if any) from time to

time and a **Group Company** means any one of them.

The laws of Australia. Law

The executor of the will or an administrator of the estate **Legal Personal** of a deceased person, the trustee of the estate of a Representative

> person under a legal disability or a person who holds an enduring power of attorney granted by another person.

Listing Rules While the Shares (or CHESS Depositary Interests over

those Shares) are quoted on ASX, the listing rules of the

ASX as amended from time to time.

Measurement Date In relation to a Performance Right means the date at

> which Performance Conditions are to be measured to determine whether that Performance Right becomes a

Vested Performance Right.

Nominee In respect of an Eligible Person:

> (a) that person's spouse;

(b) that person's biological or legally adopted child of

at least 18 years of age;

(c) a trust or trustees of a trust set up wholly for the benefit of one or more Eligible Persons or a person

mentioned in sub-clause (a) or (b); or

a company in which all of the issued shares are (d) beneficially held by, and all of the voting rights are

beneficially held by:

the Eligible Person; and/or

a person or persons mentioned in sub-

clauses (a), (b) or (c) above.

An offer to participate in the Plan in respect of a Performance Period in accordance with clause 3.1.

Participant An Eligible Person or their Nominee, as the case may

> be, who returns a duly completed Application Form and to whom Performance Rights are granted under the

Plan.

3461-6317-9525v4 page 2

Offer

Performance Conditions

The conditions relating to the performance of the Group or the Relevant Person (and the manner in which those conditions will be tested) for the purposes of determining the number of a Participant's Performance Rights which may be exercised, as set out in the Offer.

Performance Period The period set out in the Offer for the purpose of determining the extent (if any) to which the Performance Conditions have been met.

Performance Right

A right granted under **clause 4.1(a)** to acquire a Share on the terms set out in the Plan for the relevant Performance Period, subject to the Performance Conditions.

Plan

The Performance Rights Plan of the Company.

Redundancy

In relation to an Eligible Person, a determination by the Board that the Company's need to employ a person for the particular kind of work carried out by that Eligible Person has ceased (but, for the avoidance of any doubt, does not include the dismissal of an Eligible Person for personal or disciplinary reasons or where the Eligible Person leaves the employ of the Company of his or her own accord).

Related Body Corporate

Has the meaning given in the Corporations Act.

Relevant Person

- (a) In respect of an Eligible Person, that person; and
- (b) in respect of the Nominee of an Eligible Person, that Eligible Person.

Retirement

In relation to an Eligible Person, retirement by that Eligible Person from the Company at a date greater than 6 months from the grant of the Performance Right, who is age 65 or over.

Securities Trading Policy

The Company's share dealing code in force from time to

Security Interest

A mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other encumbrance of any nature.

Share

A full-paid ordinary share in the Company.

Specified Reason

Retirement, Total and Permanent Disablement, Redundancy or death.

Subsidiary

A body corporate which is a subsidiary of the Company within the meaning of section 9 of the Corporations Act.

Total and Permanent Disablement

In relation to an Eligible Person, that the Eligible Person has, in the opinion of the Board and with effect on a date determined by the Board, after considering such medical and other evidence as it sees fit, become incapacitated to such an extent as to render the Eligible Person unlikely ever to engage in any occupation for which he or she is reasonably qualified by education, training or experience.

Trading Window

A period that is not a close period under the Securities

Trading Policy.

Unvested Performance Rights Performance Rights which have not yet vested in

accordance with the Plan.

Vested Performance Rights Performance Rights which are determined to have vested in accordance with the Plan and will be automatically exercised and Shares issued in

accordance with clause 5.3.

2.2 Interpretation

Headings are for convenience only and do not affect interpretation. The following rules of interpretation apply unless the context requires otherwise.

- (a) The singular includes the plural and conversely.
- (b) A gender includes all genders.
- (c) Where a word or phrase is defined, its other grammatical forms have a corresponding meaning.
- (d) A reference to a person includes a body corporate, an unincorporated body or other entity and conversely.
- (e) A reference to a clause is to a clause of the Plan.
- (f) A reference to any agreement or document is to that agreement or document as amended, novated, supplemented, varied or replaced from time to time, except to the extent prohibited by the Plan.
- (g) A reference to any legislation or to any provision of any legislation includes any modification or re-enactment of it, any legislative provision substituted for it and all regulations and statutory instruments issued under it.
- (h) A reference to conduct includes any omission and any statement or undertaking, whether or not in writing.
- (i) A reference to writing includes a facsimile transmission and any means of reproducing words in a tangible and permanently visible form.
- (j) Mentioning anything after include, includes or including does not limit what else might be included.

(k) A reference to "US\$" is a reference to the currency of the United States.

3 Offer to participate

3.1 Offers

- (a) The Board may from time to time in its absolute discretion issue or cause to be issued, Offers on behalf of the Company to Eligible Persons. That Offer will be in such form as the Board determines from time to time and will include the following information:
 - (i) the date of the Offer;
 - (ii) the name of the Eligible Person to whom the Offer is made;
 - (iii) the number of Performance Rights which are capable of vesting if Performance Conditions are met;
 - (iv) the Performance Conditions and Performance Period;
 - (v) the approximate Measurement Date(s) in respect of the Performance Rights;
 - (vi) the Expiry Date; and
 - (vii) the time period in which to accept the Offer by returning a duly completed Application Form.
- (b) Offers may be made by the Board on a differential basis to Eligible Persons, different classes of Eligible Persons or to Eligible Persons within the same class, as the case may be.

3.2 Application Form

- (a) An Eligible Person who receives an Offer can only participate in the Plan by returning a duly completed Application Form within the time period and as otherwise specified in the Offer.
- (b) An Eligible Person may nominate a Nominee to be granted all the Performance Rights as specified in the Offer by notice in writing to the Board for the Board's approval. The Board may, in its absolute discretion, resolve not to allow the grant of the Performance Rights to the Nominee without giving any reason for such decision.
- (c) If an Application Form is not returned within the time specified or otherwise in accordance with the requirements set out in the Offer, the Board may nevertheless in its sole discretion treat any Application Form received from an Eligible Person (or their Nominee) as being returned in accordance with clause 3.2(a).
- (d) For the avoidance of doubt, the Board in its sole discretion can refuse to allow an Eligible Person (or their Nominee) to participate in the Plan even though a duly completed Application Form is received from the Eligible Person (or their Nominee) in accordance with **clause 3.2(a)**.

(e) Notwithstanding the completion of the Application Form, the Eligible Person (or their Nominee) will not hold a Performance Right or have any future right to Shares until the time the Performance Rights are granted.

3.3 Participants

Subject to clause 3.2(d), following:

- (a) receipt of a duly completed Application Form by an Eligible Person; or
- (b) the Board approving the grant of Performance Rights to Nominee and the Nominee giving the Company a duly completed Application Form,

then the Eligible Person or the Nominee, as the case may be, will be taken to have agreed to be bound by rules of this Plan and will be granted Performance Rights subject to these rules. On the grant of Performance Rights following receipt by the Company of an Application Form, an Eligible Person or the Nominee, as the case may be, becomes a Participant.

4 Grant of Performance Rights

4.1 Grant

- (a) As soon as practicable after the receipt of a duly completed Application Form, the Company will grant to each Participant the number of Performance Rights as set out in the Offer.
- (b) A Participant will not pay anything for the grant of Performance Rights.
- (c) An Eligible Person has no entitlement to be granted any Performance Rights unless and until such Performance Rights are granted.
- (d) None of the Performance Rights will be listed for quotation on any stock exchange.

4.2 Not transferable

Except on the death of a Participant, Performance Rights may not be transferred, assigned or novated except with the approval of the Board.

4.3 Security Interest

Subject to **clause 4.2**, Participants will not grant any Security Interest in or over or otherwise dispose of or deal with any Performance Rights or any interest in them until the relevant Shares are either issued or transferred to that Participant, and any such Security Interest or disposal or dealing will not be recognised in any manner by the Company.

4.4 New issues

A Performance Right does not confer on a Participant the right to participate in new issues of Shares by the Company, including by way of bonus issue, rights issue or otherwise.

4.5 Dividend and Voting Rights

Performance Rights will not give any right to participate in dividends or any voting rights until Shares are issued or transferred to a Participant pursuant to the exercise of Vested Performance Rights.

5 Vesting of Performance Rights

5.1 Performance Conditions

The Performance Conditions applicable to any Performance Period relating to Performance Rights shall be as set out in the Offer, including the Measurement Date, and shall be as determined by the Board in its absolute discretion from time to time.

5.2 Determination of number of Vested Performance Rights

- (a) Subject to 5.2(b), as soon as reasonably practicable after each Measurement Date applicable to any Performance Period, the Board shall determine in respect of each Participant as at that Measurement Date:
 - (i) whether, and to what extent, the Performance Conditions applicable up to the Measurement Date have been satisfied;
 - (ii) the number of Performance Rights (if any) that will become Vested Performance Rights as at the Measurement Date;

and shall provide written notification to each Participant as to that determination.

- (b) The Measurement Date and any determination of any vesting of the Performance Rights under **clause 5.2(a)** can only occur at such time which is:
 - (i) within a Trading Window; and
 - (ii) at such time as that the issue or transfer of Shares to a Participant would not be likely to lead to a breach by the Participant of the insider trading provisions in the Corporations Act or Securities Trading Policy.
- (c) Until the Board has made a determination which is in accordance with both clauses 5.2(a) and 5.2(b) above all Performance Rights remain at all times Unvested Performance Rights.

5.3 Automatic Issue of Shares for Vested Performance Rights

Upon determination of the Vested Performance Rights in accordance with clauses 5.2 and 7.1(b), Shares will, on payment by the Participant of the aggregate of:

- (a) the nominal value of a Share, being US\$0.001 per Share; and
- (b) any taxes for which the Participant's employing company is required to account to any taxing authority on the Participant's behalf,

be issued or transferred to the Participant unless the Company is in a Blackout Period, or the Company determines in good faith that to issue or transfer the Shares may breach the Securities Trading Policy, in which case the Company will issue or transfer the Shares as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter.

5.4 Performance Rights and Trading of Shares

- (a) Unless and until Performance Rights have vested and the relevant Shares are either issued or transferred to that Participant as a result of that exercise, a Participant has no interest in those Shares.
- (b) All Shares issued or transferred to a Participant under this Plan, will, from the date of issue or transfer, rank equally with all other issued Shares. The Company will apply for official quotation of these Shares on each stock exchange on which Shares are quoted.
- (c) A Participant who wishes to trade any Shares issued or transferred under this Plan must do so in accordance with the Securities Trading Policy.

6 Time of lapse of Performance Rights

Unless otherwise determined by the Board, a Performance Right lapses on the earlier to occur of:

- (a) where Performance Conditions have not been satisfied on the Measurement Date after such Performance Rights have been on issue for 60 months;
- (b) if an Eligible Person ceases to be an Eligible Person because of a Specified Reason – the date of lapse under clause 7.1(b);
- (c) if an Eligible Person ceases to be an Eligible Person for any reason other than a Specified Reason the date of lapse under **clause 7.1(a)**;
- (d) the day the Board makes a determination that the Performance Rights lapse under **clause 8**; and
- (e) the day the Board makes a determination that the Performance Rights lapse under **clause 9.1**.

7 Cessation of employment or office

7.1 Unvested Performance Rights

Unless otherwise determined by the Board:

- (a) if a Relevant Person ceases to be an Eligible Person for any reason other than a Specified Reason, any Unvested Performance Rights held by the relevant Participant will automatically lapse; and
- (b) if the Relevant Person ceases to be an Eligible Person for a Specified Reason, the Board, subject to the Listing Rules, in its absolute discretion,

will determine the extent to which Unvested Performance Rights held by the relevant Participant will become Vested Performance Rights.

7.2 Secretary's Certificate

A certificate signed by the company secretary of the Company stating that a person ceased for any reason to be an Eligible Person shall (in the absence of manifest error) be conclusive for the purposes of the Plan, both as to such occurrence and the reason for such occurrence and the date of such occurrence.

7.3 Death of a Participant

Subject to **clause 7.1(b)**, if at any time prior to the Expiry Date of any Performance Rights a Participant dies, the deceased Participant's Legal Personal Representative may:

- (a) elect to be registered as the new holder of the deceased Participant's Performance Rights; and
- (b) whether or not the deceased Participant's Legal Personal Representative becomes so registered, participate in accordance with and subject to the rules of this Plan as if they were the holder of such Performance Rights.

8 Breach, fraud or dishonesty

If in the opinion of the Board a Relevant Person acts fraudulently or dishonestly or is in material breach of his or her obligations to any Group Company then the Board may in its absolute discretion determine that all the Relevant Person's Performance Rights will lapse and the Board's decision will be final and binding.

9 Change of control

9.1 Vesting upon change of control

In the event that there is a Change of Control Event then the Performance Rights will be deemed to have vested and:

- (a) If it occurs as a direct consequence of a decision of the Board to procure or seek a change of control of the Company, the participant will be entitled within 60 days of the happening of such Change of Control Event to call on the Company (which call the Company will be obliged to meet) either, at the Company's election:
 - (i) issue the Participant with Shares in respect of those Performance Rights that have not already vested or expired as at the date of the Change of Control Event in the same number as the participant would have been entitled to had the Participant met the Performance Condition applicable to those Performance Rights; or

- (ii) pay to the Participant a sum equal to the market value of the Shares that the Participant would have received had the Participant met the Performance Conditions applicable to the Performance Rights, referred to (A) above, which market value shall be assessed by reference to the higher of the 30 day daily closing price trading average of the Company's Shares immediately preceding the occurrence of the Change of Control Event and the consideration payable per Share under the Change of Control Event.
- (b) In any other case, where the Change of Control Event leads to the Participant's employment being terminated or the Participant's resignation from their current position, the Participant will be entitled within 60 days of such Change of Control Event to call on the Company (which call the Company will be obliged to meet) either, at the Company's election:
 - (i) issue the Participant with Shares in respect of the next tranche of the Performance Rights that have not already vested or expired as at the date of the Change of Control Event as the Participant would have been entitled to if the Participant had met the Performance Condition applicable to that next unvested tranche of the Performance Rights; or
 - (ii) pay to the Participant a sum equal to the market value of the Shares that the Participant would have received had the holder met the Performance Conditions applicable to the Performance Rights referred to in ((b)(i)) above, which market value shall be assessed by reference to the higher of the 30 day daily closing price trading average of the Company's Shares immediately preceding the occurrence of the Change of Control Event and the consideration payable per Share under the Change of Control Event.

10 Administration of the Plan

- (a) The Plan will be administered by the Board. The Board will have power to delegate the exercise of its powers or discretions arising under the Plan to any one or more persons (including, but not restricted to, a committee or sub-committee of the Board) for such period and on such conditions as the Board may determine.
- (b) The Board may at any time appoint or engage specialist service providers for the operation and administration of the Plan.
- (c) The Board will ensure a complete register of Participants is maintained to facilitate efficient management and administration and to comply with regulatory reporting requirements.

- (d) Shares to be provided under the Plan may either be satisfied by the issue of new Shares or by the transfer of existing Shares.
- (e) Where the Board is required to make a determination or is entitled to exercise discretion in respect of the Plan, that determination or discretion shall be exercised reasonably and in good faith, unless provided otherwise.

11 Capital events

11.1 Variation of Capital

If there are certain variations of the share capital of the Company including a capitalisation or rights issue, sub-division, consolidation or reduction of share capital, a demerger (in whatever form) or other distribution in specie, the Board may make such adjustments as it considers appropriate under **clause 11.2** in accordance with the provisions of the Listing Rules or, if the Company is not listed on ASX, such adjustments as the Board considers fair and reasonable to preserve the value of the Performance Rights.

11.2 Adjustments

An adjustment made under this clause will be to one of the following:

- (a) the number of Shares which may be issued or transferred upon vesting of any Performance Rights; or
- (b) where Performance Rights have become Vested Performance Rights but no Shares have been issued or transferred, the number of Shares which may be issued or transferred.

11.3 Notice of Variation

As soon as reasonably practicable after making any adjustment under **clause 11.2**, the Board will give notice in writing of the adjustment to any Participant affected by it.

12 Rights of Participants

Nothing in this Plan or participation in the Plan:

- (a) confers on any Eligible Person or Participant the right to continue as an employee or officer of any Group Company;
- (b) confers on any Eligible Person the right to become or remain an Eligible Person or Participant or to participate under the Plan;
- (c) will be taken into account in determining an Eligible Person's salary or remuneration for the purposes of superannuation or other pension arrangements;
- (d) affects the rights and obligations of any Eligible Person or Participant under the terms of their office or employment with any Group Company;

- (e) affects any rights which a Group Company may have to terminate the employment or office of an Eligible Person or Participant or will be taken into account in determining an Eligible Person or Participant's termination or severance pay;
- (f) may be used to increase damages in any action brought against any Group Company in respect of any such termination; and
- (g) confers any responsibility or liability on any Group Company or its directors, officers, employees, representatives or agents in respect of any taxation liabilities of the Eligible Person or Participant.

13 Amendment, termination and suspension

- (a) Subject to **clause 13(b)**, the Board may at any time and from time to time by resolution alter the Plan.
- (b) Any amendment to the Plan is subject to any restrictions or procedural requirements relating to the amendment of the rules of an employee incentive scheme imposed by the Listing Rules.
- (c) The Board may at any time, and at its complete discretion, suspend or terminate the Plan without notice to Participants. The suspension or termination of the Plan will not affect any existing grants of Performance Rights already made under the Plan and the terms of the Plan will continue to apply to such grants.

14 General

14.1 Law, Listing Rules and the Constitution

The Plan and all offers and issues of Performance Rights under the Plan are subject to the Law, the Listing Rules and the Constitution, each as in force from time to time.

14.2 Issue limitations

- (a) The number of Shares to be received on vesting of the Performance Rights the subject of an Offer when aggregated with:
 - (i) the number of Shares which would be issued were each outstanding offer or Performance Right, being an offer made or Performance Rights granted pursuant to the Plan or any other employee incentive scheme extended only to employees or directors of the Company, to vest; and
 - the number of Shares issued during the previous 5 years pursuant to the Plan or any other employee incentive scheme extended only to employees or directors of the Company;

but disregarding any offer made, or Performance Rights acquired or Share issued by way of or as a result of:

- (iii) an offer to a person situated at the time of receipt of the offer outside Australia; or
- (iv) an offer that did not need disclosure to investors because of section 708 of the Corporations Act; or
- (v) an offer made under a disclosure document,

must not exceed 5% (or such other maximum permitted under any ASIC Class Order or individual ASIC relief instrument providing relief from (among other things) the disclosure regime of the Corporations Act) of the total number of issued Shares as at the time of the Offer.

(b) Where the Performance Right lapses without vesting, the Shares concerned are ignored when calculating the limits in this clause.

14.3 Costs and Expenses

The Company will pay all expenses, costs and charges in relation to the establishment, implementation and administration of the Plan, including all costs incurred in or associated with the issue or purchase of Shares (except for taxes which are payable by Participants for the Performance Rights) for the purposes of the Plan. Each Group Company will, if required by the Board, reimburse the Company for any such costs and charges to the extent that they relate to its employees officers or former employees or officers.

14.4 Withholding

- (a) If any person (not being the Participant) is obliged as a result of or in connection with the grant or vesting, of any Performance Rights to account for income tax or employment taxes under any wage, withholding or other arrangements or for any other tax, social security contributions or levy or charge of a similar nature, then that person is entitled to be reimbursed by the Participant for the amounts so paid or payable.
- (b) Where **clause 14.4(a)** applies, the Company is not obliged to pay the relevant amount or issue or transfer the relevant Shares to the Participant, unless the relevant person is satisfied that arrangements have been made for reimbursement. Those arrangements may include, without limitation, the sale, on behalf of the Participant, of Shares issued or transferred or otherwise to be issued or transferred to the Participant and, where this happens, the Participant will also reimburse the costs of any such sale (e.g. stamp duty, brokerage, etc.)

14.5 Data protection

By returning an Application Form, each Participant consents to the holding and processing of personal data provided by the Participant to any Group Company for all purposes relating to the operation of the Plan. These include, but are not limited to:

(a) administering and maintaining Participants' records;

- (b) providing information to trustees of any employee benefit trust, registrars, brokers or third party administrators of the Plan;
- (c) providing information to future purchasers of the Company or the business in which the Participant works;
- (d) transferring information about the Participant to a country or territory outside Australia.

14.6 Error in Allocation

If any Performance Right is provided under this Plan in error or by mistake to a person (**Mistaken Recipient**) who is not the intended recipient, the Mistaken Recipient shall have no right or interest, and shall be taken never to have had any right or interest, in that Performance Right and those Performance Rights will immediately lapse.

14.7 Dispute

Any disputes or differences of any nature arising under the Plan will be referred to the Board and its decision will be final and binding in all respects.

14.8 Notices

Any notice or other communication under or in connection with the Plan may be given by personal delivery or by sending it by post or fax or email, in the case of a company to its registered office (or any other address notified by that company from time to time (**Notified Address**)) or the fax number (if any) of that registered office (or Notified Address), and in the case of an individual to their last known address, fax number, email address or, if they are a director or employee of a Group Company, either to their last known address, fax number or to the address of the place of business at which they carry out all or most of their duties, or to the fax number or email address relating to that address.

14.9 Governing Law

- (a) This Plan and the rights of Eligible Persons and Participants under the Plan are governed by the laws in force in the State of Western Australia, Australia.
- (b) Each Participant and the Company irrevocably and unconditionally submit to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the Courts of Western Australia, the Commonwealth of Australia and Court entitled to hear appeals from those Courts.